
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

INVOCATION – Mayor Jimmy Chalflinch 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – Commissioner Dan Bonillo 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Members of the board may remove, add, or rearrange items on the agenda prior to commencing the meeting. 
Motions/votes are not required to approve the agenda but there must be unanimous consent before proceeding. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All items listed below are considered routine and will be enacted by one motion. No separate discussion will be held 
except on request of a member of the Board of Commissioners to remove an item from the consent agenda and 
place it on the regular agenda. 
 

• Minutes from Regular Meeting on Monday, April 15, 2024 (pg.  1-13) 
• Minutes from Special Meeting on Wednesday, May 15, 2024 (pg. 14-17) 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT SESSION 

Members of the public may use this time to address the Board of Commissioners with any presentations, questions, 
or concerns. All public comments made as part of a public hearing should be withheld until the public hearing has 
begun and the floor is given to public comments. No public comment will be made outside of this public comment 
session or a public hearing unless otherwise permitted by the Board of Commissioners. To request to speak outside 
of the public comment session or public hearing please raise your hand and wait to be recognized by the presiding 
officer. The mayor or presiding officer may place time limits on speakers prior to the start of the public comment 
session. 

REPORTS 

Manager’s Report (Emily Yopp, (pg. 18) 
Departmental Reports (pg. 19-27) 

OLD BUSINESS 

None 



 

NEW BUSINESS 

a. Review and Approve Republic Services Contract (Emily Yopp, pg. 28-29) 

b. Ripple Fiber Site Plan Review, (Jennifer Hunt, pg. 30-39) 

c. Special Events Committee Ordinance Presentation (Ordinance #ORD.24.11), (Emily Yopp/Jamie Sandoval, 
pg. 40-43) 

d. Request to Fill Vacancy Due to Resignation on the Planning Board—ETJ Position, (Jamie Sandoval, pg. 44) 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

a. Public Hearing – Review and Adopt the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Balanced Budget (Emily Yopp, pg. 45-97) 

i. Fee Schedule Update for System Development Fee Changes 

b. Public Hearing – Consider a Pilot Program for Urban Archery in Carthage (Emily Yopp, pg. 98-99) 

c. Public Hearing – Review and Adopt the Downtown Revitalization Plan & Parking Corridor Study (Jennifer 
Hunt, pg. 100-101) 

 
FINAL COMMENTS 

The Board of Commissioners may take this opportunity to provide feedback, comments, commendations, and/or 
just general thoughts regarding various topics, issues, and ideas. 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

As allowed by NC General Statute § 143-318.11(a)(3) 
 

To consult with an attorney; to protect the attorney-client privilege. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



M 
I 
N 
U 
T 
E 
S 

Town of Carthage, 

North Carolina 

Board of Commissioners 

Regular Meeting 

April 15, 2024 

McDonald Building 

207 McReynolds Street 

Carthage, NC 28327 

Regular Public Meeting 

1 1



ROLL CALL 
Present in-person were Mayor Pro Tem John McDonald, Commissioners Brent Tanner, Al Barber and Dan 
Bonillo. Anton Sadovnikov and Mayor Jimmy Chalflinch were excused. 

CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor Pro Tem McDonald called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m. 

INVOCATION 
Mayor Pro Tem McDonald led the room in prayer. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Commissioner Tanner gave the pledge. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
MOTION 
Commissioner Bonillo motioned to approve the agenda with the addition of the Clerk requesting to 
add Introduction of Urban Archery—Speaker:  Rupert Medford to Old Business and additionally add 
the Introduction of Water and Sewer System Development Fee Analysis to New Business. The motion 
was seconded by Commissioner Tanner. All ayes, motion passed 4-0. 

CONSENT AGENDA 
No items on the Consent Agenda. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
The floor was opened up for public comment, and Mr. Malcolm Hall of South McNeill Street asked that the 
minutes of the meetings be updated on the website for citizen review. Town Clerk, Kim Gibson agreed to get 
the site updated as soon as possible. 

MANAGER’S REPORT 
Town Manager, Emily Yopp, gave the Manager’s Report which is and does become a part of these minutes. 

Sluss Tiller Summary 

We have just finished Round 1 of the 2024 US Army, Civil Affairs, Sluss-Tiller training program. The scenario for 
this round was creating resiliency using alternative energy sources, specifically solar power. The students 

2 2



worked with town staff and employees of Duke Energy to research and devise potential solutions that the 
Town of Carthage could pursue.  

Carthage Elementary School Discussions 

Discussion continues with Moore County Schools on potential options for the renovation or replacement of 
Carthage Elementary School. Mayor Chalflinch and Mrs. Yopp will be participating in a steering committee 
where they will tour the school and then discuss next steps for the school. The Board will be kept informed of 
these discussions as they progress. 

Nancy Kiser Park Stream Project 

The stream project at Nancy Kiser is underway and is estimated to take 1-2 weeks to complete, weather 
permitted. The contractor, North State, will be re-working the stream bed to permanently delete the 
impoundment of water and instead make this area a usable grassy section. The stream itself will be 
reconfigured in such a way that it can flow more easily out of the area. A section of the asphalt trail along the 
stream will be removed to allow for the repair of erosion caused by the stream. Staff intends to revisit the 
construction of a trail there in the future as part of the development of a master parks plan that would include 
Nancy Kiser Park. 

 Website Almost Ready 

Kim Gibson and Mrs. Yopp have been working steadily on building out pages for the new website. The 
projected go live date is April 16th and it will likely take most of the day to bring the site online and check for 
bugs and glitches. Citizen feedback is welcomed and encouraged. 

Pay Study Begins 

The MAPS Group will begin the pay study on April 17th and town staff are currently completing job description 
questionnaires ahead of the kickoff meeting.  

Purchase of 208 Monroe Street 

A new closing date of Friday, April 19th has been set for the Town to close on 208 Monroe Street. Once the 
closing occurs, the Town will begin developing a Request for Bids and start the process of finding a contractor 
to conduct the work necessary to turn this property into Town Hall. 

SPECIAL SPEAKER 
Miss Charlotte King, a member of the Moore County 4-H Club presented her ideas to the Board regarding 
“Bringing Attention to Native Plants” at Nancy Kiser Park.  Miss King, after presenting her data and proposal for 
a sign delineating the different native plants and trees within the park, asked the Board if she would be 
permitted to design, raise money for, and erect the sign for Nancy Kiser Park. With praise for Miss King’s 
thoughtful project and well-laid plan, the Board unanimously approved the project. 

OLD BUSINESS 

a. Introduction of Urban Archery—Speaker:  Rupert Medford

3 3



Wildlife Biologist, Rupert Medford, with NC Wildlife presented a brief overview of the NC Urban 
Archery program. The Board was asked by Commissioner Bonillo, who has had numerous inquiries 
from constituents regarding the subject, to consider the topic for a potential pilot program in the city 
limits of Carthage. 

Staff was directed to research the topic with regards to safety, policy, other local government 
participation, and any limitations. Mrs. Yopp also agreed to put a section on the Town website devoted 
to this issue and allow citizen input on the topic. 

MOTION  
Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to introduce the topic of Urban Archery for full consideration by 
the Board of Commissioners and call and notice an official public hearing on the topic once the pilot 
program and citizen surveys are complete. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Tanner and 
passed unanimously with a vote of 4-0. 

NEW BUSINESS 
a. Preliminary Request to Donate Land to Serve as a Town Park by Dr. Peter Little

Dr. Peter Little, owner of parcel 00001581 and parcel 00001582, approximately 30 acres, would like to
donate 10 acres of this land to the Town of Carthage for a forever park with a walking and running
trail, a small park with swings, and a bathroom. His parcel 00001582, which appears to be almost .5
acres, would be used for parking and approximately 9.5 acres from parcel 00001581 would be used for
the rest of the park, for people to simply enjoy the natural setting.

At the direction of the Town Attorney the Board of Commissioners will need to decide if the Board has
interest in taking on this land for park use. If the BOC decides that they would like the dedicated land,
then the next step would be to have a land survey for the portion to be deeded out and negotiate who
is responsible for which costs, the land survey, and the drafted deed.

In addition, Dr. Little requested to name the park “Little Forest Ridge” and have fencing separating the
public park from the surrounding parcels, which is private property. Dr. Little wants to dedicate this
land for public use and does not want development to ever occur here. Per the direction of the Town
Attorney, this would be written in the deed, either by the Town attorney or Dr. Little’s. Dr. Little does
not want this land to ever be developed but for community enjoyment of the natural environment to
time indefinite. If the Town is unable to commit to this requirement, that would be a deal breaker for
him. Dr. Little was in attendance and presented his desire to dedicate this land to the Town of
Carthage along with his request that it be used for a park only.

MOTION
Commissioner Tanner made a motion to move forward with the process of accepting the donated
land to be used for a forever park.  Commissioner Bonillo seconded the motion which passed
unanimously with a vote of 4-0.

4 4



b. Appoint Volunteers to the Historic Preservation Commission

The Board conducted interviews of interested volunteers who submitted applications to participate in
the Historic Preservation Commission on April 10th. Based on those interviews, the Board should
appoint either 5 or 7 members to serve on the HPC.

Volunteer Applicants:

1. Jill Lumgair
2. Alyssa Kennedy
3. Ariel Matthews
4. Janet Gurley Gardner
5. Ashley Coates
6. Lisa Schickedanz
7. Greg Pilson
8. Ian Lumgair

For a 5-member board: 

• 1 member = 1 year term
• 2 members = 2-year terms
• 2 members = 3-year terms

For a 7-member board: 

• All members may be appointed to 4-year terms.

Alternate Member: If the Board chooses to appoint an alternate member to serve in place of a 
member who may be absent from a meeting this member shall be appointed to a 4-year term. 

With little deliberation, the Board decided to appoint a seven-member Commission with one alternate 
member. There was some discussion on amending the ordinance to stagger the terms of the 
Commission. It was decided that Staff would bring the ordinance back to the Board to consider for this 
issue. 

MOTION 
Mayor Pro Tem McDonald made a motion to appoint the following individuals to serve on the 
Carthage Historic Preservation Commission: Jill Lumgair, Alyssa Kennedy, Ariel Matthews, Janet 
Gurley Gardner, Ashley Coates, Lisa Schickedanz, Greg Pilson, and Ian Lumgair will serve as the 
alternate member.  Commissioner Tanner seconded the motion which passed unanimously with a 
vote of 4-0. 

c. Site Plan Review for H2O of the Sandhills Car Wash

The applicant, Rhetson Companies, Inc. on behalf of CSMB Holdings, LLC, submitted a
“Zoning/Subdivision Request Form” for a site plan approval to do a carwash located at the bottom
portion of parcel 00005186. The whole parcel for 00005186 is 46.56 acres. This car wash project is on
1.286 acres, 56,034 square feet of the total parcel.

5 5



The current zoning of this parcel is HCD-CZ (Highway Commercial District- Conditional Zoning) and the 
commercial uses according to Ordinance 22.18 shall coincide with the B2 zoning district. A car wash is 
a permitted use in the B2 zoning district. It is subject to Special Requirements 23 which says in Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO) Section 100.56A*, “A. No such facility shall be operated within three 
hundred (300) feet of a residential district.” 
 

With the site plan being straightforward and simple in nature, the Board had minimal questions or 
deliberation. 
 
MOTION  
Commissioner Barber made a motion to approve Site Plan (S.01.24) as written and presented. The 
motion was seconded by Commissioner Bonillo and with a vote of 4-0, the motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
d. Resolution to Call a Joint Public Hearing of the Board of Commissioners and Planning Board for the 

Adoption of the Downtown Revitalization and Parking Corridor Study Plan 

Koontz Jones Design, the consultant working on the Downtown Revitalization Plan, and Kimley Horn, 
the consultant working on the Parking Corridor Study, would like to do a joint presentation for the 
Planning Board and the Board of Commissioners on May 20, 2024. This is to present their findings and 
present the data which includes feedback from two community input meetings on their studies. These 
projects began in July 2023, with two community input meetings, in November 2023 and March 2024. 
If the studies are approved, then the Board would move to adopt the plans for each of the studies. A 
vote will be taken first by Planning Board and then by the Board of Commissioners at the joint 
meeting. 
 
MOTION 
With little discussion, Commissioner Tanner made a motion to approve a call for public hearing to 
hear the joint presentation of the Downtown Revitalization Plan and the Parking Corridor Study by 
both the Planning Board and the Board of Commissioners to be held at the next regular meeting on 
Monday, May 20, 2024 in the McDonald Building located at 207 McReynolds Street.  The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Bonillo. All ayes, the motion carried 4-0. 

e. Resolution to Call a Public Hearing to Rezone 209 Dowd Street from CBD to R-10 Zoning   

The applicant, Cheryl Williams, on behalf of herself is requesting a rezoning for her property located at 
209 Dowd Street from CBD to R-10. She would like to occupy the home as a detached single-family 
residence (dwelling), and although the home is a single family detached residence, since it is located in 
the CBD zoning district this is currently not a permitted use. The property is surrounded by R-10 
(Residential) to the West, North and South. On the East side, it is zoned CBD (Central Business District). 
 
MOTION 
With limited discussion, Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to call for a public hearing to consider 
the rezoning request for 209 Dowd Street to be held on May 20, 2024 at 6:30 p.m. inside the 
McDonald Building located at 207 McReynolds Street and that the Town Clerk make all public 

6 6



notices as required. The motion was seconded by Mayor Pro Tem McDonald. With a vote of 4-0, the 
motion passed unanimously. 

f. Resolution to Call a Public Hearing to Rezone 218 Westview Road from R-20 to HCD-CZ   

The applicant, Michael Eder, on behalf of himself is requesting to subdivide his parcel, PARID 
00002067, into two lots. One lot is considered “Lot 11A” where his residential home is located (1.95 
acres), and the other lot is considered “Lot 11B” where his shop is located (1.03 acres) with 10 
proposed parking spaces and a landscaping buffer. Mr. Eder is bringing this request before the board 
because he has been working on diesel trucks from his home shop located on his property and is 
officially requesting this portion of his property be zoned appropriately. There is an access easement 
agreement between himself and the property owner of parcel 00000944701, for him to access this 
parcel off US 15-501. This parcel is zoned HCD. 
 
MOTION 
With limited discussion, Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to call for a public hearing to consider 
the conditional zoning request for 218 Westview Road to be held on May 20, 2024 at 6:30 p.m. inside 
the McDonald Building located at 207 McReynolds Street and that the Town Clerk make all public 
notices as required. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Barber. With a vote of 4-0, the 
motion passed unanimously. 

g. Resolution to Accept a $200,000 Infrastructure Grant  

The Town of Carthage was awarded a $200,000 Wastewater System Asset Inventory and Assessment 
(AIA) Grant from the NCDEQ Division of Water Infrastructure. These funds will be used to complete an 
inventory and assessment of the Town’s collection system; field inspection of high-priority lines, pump 
stations, and select manholes; digitization of all existing record drawings; a mapping update to the 
Town’s collection system; flow monitoring / inflow and infiltration analysis; and a utility rate study. 
These tasks will be used to develop a detailed Asset Management Plan and 20-Year Capital 
Improvement Plan for the Town’s wastewater system. Carthage has never completed any kind of asset 
inventory and assessment study on the collection system prior to this project.  
 
This will allow the Town the resources and information necessary to ensure the long-term success of 
the collection system, proactive management and operation of the system, and assist the Town in 
moving off of the distressed unit list in the near future. The scope of this study and the Asset 
Management Plan developed through this study will be performed and developed in accordance with 
the NCDEQ Division of Water Infrastructure’s “Water and Wastewater Utility Evaluation Guidance 
Document: Asset Inventory and Assessment, Capital Cost, and Operating Cost Analyses”. 
 
MOTION 
After brief, general discussion, Commissioner Barber made a motion to accept this funding and 
adopt the Authorizing Resolution for NCDEQ Project No. AIAW-ARP-0232. The motion was seconded 
by Mayor Pro Tem McDonald. With a vote of 4-0, the motion passed unanimously. 

 
h. Review of FY 24-25 Budget Priorities   

7 7



At the Board’s budget workshop, a variety of topics and needs were discussed for this upcoming 
budget and the Board was given a budget priorities worksheet with 18 different items. The Board was 
asked to individually prioritize these items so that staff would have the direction it needed to create 
the FY 24-25 budget.  

The “Top 10” Priorities of the Board based on the worksheets are as follows: 

1. Implement 4% COLA, conduct pay study, allocate 3% of adjusted salaries for making adjustments
after receiving results of pay study.

2. Addition of one (1) full-time Police Officer position.
3. Addition of up to three (3) full-time Firefighters.
4. Addition of two (2) full-time Public Works employees.
5. Increase hourly rate of pay for Auxiliary Police Officers.
6. Renovation of the Public Works area.
7. Install Needmore Community sign and develop park.
8. Implement annual bonuses for part-time, volunteer Fire Department staff.
9. Begin developing various strategic master plans in all departments.
10. Improvements/upgrades to Community & McDonald Building.

Republic Services Decision 
During the workshop, the Board and staff discussed that Republic Services, the Town’s 3rd party trash 
service, will be increasing their price per trash can (also known as a “cart”) from $10.99 to 
$12.99/month (+$2.00). While the Board did express that they have been happy with Republic 
Services, there was also discussion about seeking to open the bidding process to see if a better price 
could be found to help offset the increased cost to our community members. Mrs. Yopp asked the 
Board if they wished to conduct a bidding process to identify new service providers and costs? 

MOTION 
The Board all agreed that the listed priorities were accurate and Commissioner Tanner made a 
motion to request the Staff develop a budget that aligns with the approved priorities as much as 
possible in addition to sending the trash service contract out to bid.  The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Bonillo. With a vote of 4-0, the motion passed unanimously. 

i. Review and Discussion of Chapter 97 Pertaining to Mural Regulations

It has come to the attention of Town staff and the Mural Committee that the current Mural Regulation
within the Town of Carthage Code of Ordinances is extremely vague and needs to be updated. Town
staff has been rewriting the ordinance to update the language to become more defined and have more
clarity in what is required from town staff, the Board of Commissioners, and the Mural Committee.

Staff is looking for recommendations for the updated language and what the Board of Commissioners
would like to see for the mural regulations, if any. Staff will then take these recommendations and
work with the Century Committee/Mural Committee to develop an improved ordinance.

8 8



MOTION 
After some discussion, to include the overall approval of the current murals and the desire to 
continue seeing more additions to the Town’s aesthetics, Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to 
approve the request by Town staff to revise the Mural Regulations and present the updated 
Ordinance to the Board for approval. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Tanner. With a 
vote of 4-0, the motion passed unanimously. 

 
j. Review of Non-Conforming Signs Inventory and Communications   

Following the Appeal hearing decision for 609 Park Street, it was recommended from the Board of 
Commissioners that Town staff send out letters notifying businesses and property owners with non-
conforming signs that their commercial signs are non-conforming and any major changes or 
expansions to the non-conforming signs are not allowed per the Unified Development Ordinance 
(UDO). A non-conforming sign simply means that the sign was permitted at the time of installation; 
however, since the UDO is updating and changing to meet the standards seen fit to the Board of 
Commissioners, the type of sign is no longer allowed. Town staff found that there are currently 38 
non-conforming signs within the Town of Carthage. 
 

Staff is requesting the prepared communication for those sign owners be approved allowing for 
distribution. 
 
MOTION 
With minimal questions for Ms. Sandoval, who presented the request to the Board, Commissioner 
Bonillo made a motion to approve the request that Town staff send out the letter as written and 
presented. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Tanner. With a vote of 4-0, the motion 
passed unanimously. 

 
k. Amended Audit Contract for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 

North Carolina General Statute 159-34 and North Carolina General Statute 115C-447 require all local 
governments, public authorities, and schools to have their accounts audited annually and to submit 
the audit report to the Secretary of the Local Government Commission. The audit should be completed 
by October 31st each year. The Town has not completed the FY 2021-22 audit because of increasing 
workloads and prior understaffing in the Finance Department.  Attached is an amended audit contract 
(LGC-205) submitted by S. Preston Douglas & Associates for their services for the Fiscal Year Ending 
June 30, 2022.  This contract is amended to extend the completion date to April 30, 2024 and also to 
increase the audit fee to include single audit work.  A nonprofit or governmental organization with 
federal expenditures in excess of $750,000 is required by law to have a single audit performed, which 
includes an audit of both the financial statements and the federal awards. According to the single audit 
definition, it’s a process for reviewing how a grant is managed and ensures the rules for dollars 
associated with the grant or award are followed.  
 
MOTION 
With little discussion and some clarification from Mrs. Matthews, Finance Officer, Commissioner 
Bonillo made a motion that the Board accept the Amended Contract to Audit Accounts for the Town 

9 9



of Carthage for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2022. The motion was seconded by Commissioner 
Tanner. With a vote of 4-0, the motion passed unanimously. 

l. Establish Capital Project Ordinance for Sewer Capital Improvements

The Town of Carthage has been awarded grant and loan funding from the US Department of
Agriculture to support building the installation of a 16-inch line to supplement a current 8-inch line and
extend the line south to tie in with Moore County’s 30-inch line for transfer to the wastewater
treatment plant, totaling $8.867M. Staff requests to establish a Capital Project Ordinance to account
for revenues and expenditures associated with the sewer improvement project.  This should have been
done when the initial USDA documents were signed but was overlooked.  Because this was not done,
the Town will have an audit finding due to the fact that the account was created and maintained
without following the proper procedure.

MOTION
With minimal questions for Ms. Matthews, who presented the request to the Board, Commissioner
Tanner made a motion that the Capital Project Ordinance for the Sewer System Improvement
Projects be adopted as written and presented. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Barber.
With a vote of 4-0, the motion passed unanimously.

m. Introduction of Water and Sewer System Development Fee Analysis

The Board is presented with a complete System Development Fee Analysis, prepared by Mark Lacy,
LKC Engineer. The purpose of an SDF Analysis is to determine if the Town’s System Development Fees
should be adjusted to account for economic factors such as inflation, changes in the demand for
development (whether residential or commercial), changing value of the water/sewer system, etc. Like
many other plans and policies, it is wise to conduct an SDF Analysis every few years to ensure that the
cost to maintain and expand a water/sewer enterprise does not exceed the revenues it is able to
produce.

Per General Statute, a copy of which is provided in this report, such an analysis is required prior to the
Board adopting any changes to the SDF fee schedule. The SDF Analysis is required to be advertised on
our website for a period of no less than 45 days before it can be adopted, and the fees subsequently
changed, by the Board of Commissioners. It is also required to provide a means by which the public
may leave written comments on the analysis. This shall be done via an online survey, giving a direct
email address to a staff Point of Contact and providing a paper form in Town Hall. Due to the 45-day
requirement, the Board will not be able to adopt a new Fee Schedule as part of its budget process until
June. This is perfectly fine and will not delay our budget adoption timeline as we have called for the
Budget Hearing in May but can table the hearing and adoption until June. (See EXHIBIT A)

Some key points to note about the analysis are:
• All SDF’s are recommended to increase.
• For residential homes, SDF’s will increase if the new fees are adopted, but a recent amendment

under House Bill 436 to General Statute 162A, Article 8 requires that local governments calculate
the fees based on 75 gallons per bedroom where before it was 120 gallons per bedroom. This
brings some balance to the higher fees.

10 10



MOTION  
Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to go out of the Regular Meeting and into the Public Hearings.  
Commissioner Tanner seconded the motion which passed unanimously with a vote of 4-0. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
a. Public Hearing – Text Amendment to Sections 100.70A, 100.55 and 100.56A pertaining to Short Term 

Rentals (STRs)  

The Planning Board considered an amendment to allow Short Term Rental Homestays (STR) in the 
Central Business District on November 02, 2023.  After holding a public hearing, the Board of 
Commissioners (BOC) directed Manager Emily Yopp to review and refine the amendment in order to 
provide more protection to residential neighborhoods and to consider whether to have a resident-
manager or resident-owner requirement.  Mrs. Yopp directed the Planner, Jennifer Hunt, and the 
Town’s Attorneys to review the topic, the current state of North Carolina law governing STR and to 
make further recommendations to the Planning Board and Board of Commissioners. Currently, 
Carthage treats four or five kinds of different land uses as a single land use. They are Boarding and 
Rooming House, Bed & Breakfasts, Homestays and Short-Term Rentals. They are currently a permitted 
use in the zoning districts: RA-40, R-20, R-10, RM-10 and RHD, subject to SR 49.   

The Town of Carthage Planning staff has revised, with the help of the Town attorney, to propose 
zoning ordinance language for Short Term Rentals. This will also refine the definitions and ordinances 
for Boarding & Rooming Houses, Bed & Breakfasts, Homestays and Short-Term Rentals. 

After sending the memo that was recommended by the Planning Board back to the Town Attorney 
before presenting it to the Board of Commissioners, the Town Attorney did not recommend Boarding 
& Rooming Houses, Bed & Breakfasts, Homestays, and Short-Term Rentals in the Commercial or 
Industrial districts. Therefore, this request was updated to allow for Boarding & Rooming Houses, Bed 
& Breakfasts, Homestays, and Short-Term Rentals in the Residential districts and the Airport district, as 
shown on the “Proposed Table of Permitted Uses.” Also, for Homestays and Boarding & Rooming 
Houses, the Town Attorney recommended requiring the owner to live in the home. Ms. Hunt, Town 
Planner, stated that the Board of Commissioners may choose to remand this updated proposal back to 
the Planning Board for a “re-review” and recommendation prior to their decision or may proceed with 
the decision. (See EXHIBIT B) 
 

Commissioner Barber was concerned about the authorized agents having to live within such a short 
distance from the short-term rental. His concern was for the numerous military families that are forced 
to move but wish to leave their home in the care of friends to maintain as a rental home. 
 

Commissioner Bonillo agreed and felt that language should be added to allow authorized agents to live 
within Moore County or a larger-mile radius, perhaps five miles. He suggested a military clause that 
would require proof of service with a three-year sunset time to decide if the homeowners would 
return to the home or would be selling the property. Commissioner Bonillo also suggested that short-
term rentals be allowed in the CBD with none allowed in the residential districts. 
 

 
 

11 11



MOTION  
With no real consensus, Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to TABLE the Public Hearing for Text 
Amendment to Sections 100.70A, 100.55 and 100.56A pertaining to Short Term Rentals (STRs) until 
the next regular meeting scheduled for Monday, May 20, 2024 at 6:30 pm in the McDonald Building 
located at 207 McReynolds Street. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Tanner and passed 
unanimously with a vote of 4-0. 
 

b. Public Hearing – Rezoning for Clayton Speer’s land located on the south portion of PARID 00000913701; 
Rezone from TBD (Thoroughfare Business District) to I (Industrial); Petitioner: Lauren Rothlisberger on 
behalf of owner, Clayton Speer 

The applicant, Lauren Rothlisberger, on behalf of property owner Clayton Speer requested a rezoning 
for the south portion of PARID 00000913701, which is located off NC US 15-501 behind 3812 US 15-
501, Carthage Saw & Mower. Currently the north portion of this property is zoned “I-CZ” and the south 
portion is zoned TBD. The north portion is zoned “I-CZ” to allow for a laydown yard for Duke Energy, a 
temporary use approved in 2023. The south portion is being requested to be an Industrial zone. The 
applicant would like to create flexible warehouses for industrial use, which are permitted use in the 
Industrial zoning district and cohesive with the current uses surrounding this property.    

Staff met with Lauren Rothlisberger and Clayton Speer in February 2024 to discuss her proposed 
project for flexible warehouses used for industrial purposes. Town Planner, Jennifer Hunt, researched 
this property and found that it appears the southside zoning of TBD was overlayed when the zoning 
districts were first established, possibly in 1998. The north portion was not within the town limits and 
the bottom portion was. The property owner, Clayton Speer, was under the impression that it was 
zoned Industrial. Nevertheless, this process is intended to “clean up” the zoning map and make sure 
that the entire property is zoned “Industrial.” Lauren Rothlisberger intends to purchase approximately 
5.27 acres of land from Clayton Speer located on the south portion of PARID 00000913701. (See 
EXHIBIT C) 
 
MOTION  
As this request is in line with the Board’s desire to bring in more commercial and industry, and this 
being a straightforward request, there was very little. Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to that 
the rezoning of PID#00000913701 meets the standards of the 2040 Land Use Plan by offering 
coordinated, intentional, and well-planned growth and development in addition to maintaining 
regulations that are consistent with the Town’s vision. And therefore, I approve rezoning request  
R-01-24 as written and presented. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Barber and passed 
unanimously with a vote of 4-0. 
 
 

MOTION  
Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to go out of the Public Hearing and back into the Regular 
Meeting.  Commissioner Tanner seconded the motion which passed unanimously with a vote of 4-0. 
 
 
 

12 12



MOTION  
Commissioner Tanner made a motion to go out of the Regular Meeting and into Closed Session.  
Commissioner Barber seconded the motion which passed unanimously with a vote of 4-0. 

MOTION  
Commissioner Bonillo made a motion to go out of the Closed Session and back into the Regular 
Meeting.  Commissioner Tanner seconded the motion which passed unanimously with a vote of 4-0. 

ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION 
With no other business, Commissioner Tanner motioned to adjourn the regular meeting. 
Commissioner Bonillo seconded the motion. All ayes, motion carried 4-0.  The regular meeting was 
adjourned at 9:57 p.m. 

13 13



M 
I 
N 
U 
T 
E 
S 

Town of Carthage, 

North Carolina 

Board of Commissioners 

SPECIAL MEETING 
BUDGET PRESENTATION 

May 15, 2024 

McDonald Building 

207 McReynolds Street 

Carthage, NC 28327 

SPECIAL Public Meeting 

14 14



ROLL CALL 

Present in-person were Mayor Jimmy Chalflinch, Mayor Pro Tem John McDonald, Commissioners Brent 
Tanner, Dan Bonillo, and Anton Sadovnikov. Al Barber was in attendance via telephone. 

**NOTE—Mayor Jimmy Chalflinch arrived late at 6:53 pm, and presided over the meeting from that point.  
Also noted was Commissioner Dan Bonillo arrived late at 7:00 pm.   

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Pro Tem McDonald called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m. 

INVOCATION 

Mayor Pro Tem McDonald led the room in prayer. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioner Tanner gave the pledge. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOTION 
Commissioner Barber motioned to approve the agenda as written and presented. The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Tanner. All ayes, motion passed 4-0. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

No items on the Consent Agenda. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

The floor was opened up for public comment, but no citizens chose to make comment. 

NEW BUSINESS 

a. Preliminary Plat 2-Year Extension Request for Riddle Ridge, by David Chapman

15 15



Ashley Dunn, with Sanders Engineering, sent Jennifer Hunt, Town Planner, an email on April 16, 2024, 
asking how to extend the Riddle Ridge preliminary plat before its expiration date of May 16, 2024. The 
preliminary plat was approved at the Board of Commissioners meeting on May 16, 2022. Ms. Hunt 
explained that in order to get an extension per the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Section 
100.65 (M) the request must go before the Board of Commissioners.  

Section 100.65 (M) says, “Expiration. Preliminary plat approval shall be valid for a period of two years 
from the date of approval of the plat by the Board of Commissioners unless an extension of time is 
applied for and granted by the Board. Each successive final plat for a phase of the subdivision shall be 
submitted for approval within two years of the date of approval of the previous final plat for a phase of 
the subdivision. Failure to do so shall result in resubmittal of the preliminary plat for compliance with 
current regulations.” 

Therefore, Ashley Dunn, is requesting an extension for the preliminary plat of Riddle Ridge. This parcel 
is approximately 34.4 acres in the R-20 zoning district. (See Exhibit A) 

One citizen in the audience requested and received permission to address the Board. He lives directly 
adjacent to the property in question and wanted to ensure that the conditions that were set forth in 
the initial request, to include a detailed site map will be adhered to. Ms. Hunt assured him that this 
was not changing any previous requirements, it was strictly a request to extend the length of the time 
that preliminary plat could be used. 

Commissioners Bonillo and Sadovnikov discussed allowing only one year’s extension to promote a 
more expedient development process and avoid stagnation. 

MOTION 
With the assurances from Ms. Hunt, there was very little discussion before Commissioner Sadovnikov 
made a motion to approve the extension request for Riddle Ridge for another ONE year, until May 
16, 2025 with all the prior conditions set forth.  Commissioner Tanner seconded the motion which 
passed unanimously with a vote of 4-0. 

b. Approval for Fire Department to Begin Specking out Future Trucks for Their Fleet

As the process for approval and purchasing of new fire apparatus takes years to complete, the Fire
Department is requesting permission to begin specking the new equipment with the hope of getting
costs locked in at the lowest price possible.  This will not take any funding up front but will allow the
department to research what will be needed and do cost analysis so that when the time comes, they
will have the information needed to secure the order as soon as allowable.

MOTION
After some discussion regarding timelines, Commissioner Tanner made a motion to allow the Fire
Department to begin specking the requirements for a future apparatus purchase.  Commissioner
Sadovnikov seconded the motion which passed unanimously by a vote of 4-0.

c. Final Decision on Seeking New Bids for Waste Disposal

16 16



At the budget workshop, the Board discussed the proposed increase by Republic Services to the cost 
per can for trash pickup in Carthage. The current rate is $11.99/can charged to the customer on the 
monthly utility bill. With the requested increase, the rate would go up to $13.99/can. The Board 
expressed an interest in potentially pursuing bids to determine if we can get a better price for this 
service. In order to help the Board make this decision, staff conducted a very brief survey of waste 
disposal costs with our fellow municipalities in hopes of gauging the current market rate. They are as 
follows: 

Aberdeen – No contract. Staff picks up trash. 

Cameron—GFL Environmental $12.00/can.  Great reviews for customer service. 

Robbins—Republic Services  $14/can. 

Southern Pines (transitioning in Dec)—(Current) GFL Environmental  $10.35/per can. Town pays for 
disposal with the County at $58.81/ton.  (New Service) Meridian Waste $18.05 for collection & 
disposal per can. 

Whispering Pines—Roberson Unique Sanitation  $15.75/can 

Vass—No contract.  Moore County picks up trash. 

Given the rates paid by neighboring municipalities that responded, rates that may likely be received as 
“market rates” during the bidding process, Mrs. Yopp asked the Board if they still wish to pursue bids 
or stay with Republic? She further inquired that If they choose to stay with Republic, do they have a 
counter offer they wish to propose to the $2.00 increase? 

DECISION 
After some deliberation, it was decided by the Board that the Town would renew their contract with 
Republic Services and not go out for bids. They also directed Mrs. Yopp to attempt a negotiation to 
lower the price by 50 cent to possibly one dollar and bring that back to the Board for approval. 

d. Presentation of the Preliminary Budget for Board Review

Mrs. Yopp presented the balance budget for the Board to review. (See Exhibits B and C)

After reviewing the Budget as presented by Town Manager, Emily Yopp and asking several
preliminary questions, the Board set the Budget Hearing for the Regular Board of Commissioners
Meeting to be held on Monday, June 17, 2024 at 6:30 pm in the McDonald Building located at 207
McReynolds Street.  The Clerk was asked to make all Public Notices as required.

ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION 
With no other business, Commissioner Sadovnikov motioned to adjourn the special meeting. Mayor 
Pro Tem McDonald seconded the motion. All ayes, motion carried 4-0.  The meeting was adjourned 
at 8:12 p.m. 

17 17



MANAGER’S REPORT 

Date: June 17, 2024 

To:  The Board of Commissioners 

From:  Emily D. Yopp, Town Manager 

1. Board and Committee Positions Available
We have a few volunteer opportunities that come available this month. For the Planning Board,
ETJ member Dena DeLucia will not be completing the rest of her term (expiring 6/30/2026). Staff
will be opening applications and seeking candidates to fill the ETJ-only position until the end of
the term. After that, the member may request reappointment for a full 3-year term.

For Appearance Committee, long-time members Tom and Becky Prim have chosen not to seek
reappointment to the committee at the end of their term on 6/30 of this month. The Prims will
continue to volunteer their time to help with planting downtown planters and assisting with
seasonal decoration projects as needed. The Appearance Committee could really benefit from
more participation from the community. With the Prims moving on we are now left with only 3
active voting members. Staff will make a social media posting and take other actions to
advertise the committee and its mission, but we would also appreciate the Board and public’s
assistance in spreading the word about volunteering on this committee. The committee’s duties,
as set forth in the ordinance, are:

• Work with and confer with town staff, local residents, and business and community leaders
to seek to improve the appearance of the town.

• Review and recommend all policy changes involving the town’s nuisance ordinances,
demolition of dilapidated buildings, and maintenance of town rights-of-way and town-
owned buildings and properties.

• Undertake fundraising for beautification efforts and downtown revitalization projects.
• Recommend specific projects to be undertaken by the town.
• Perform other duties as the Board may direct.

2. Status of Historic Preservation Commission (HPC)
As of this writing, the newly formed HPC is set to meet on June 13th to finalize their oaths of
office, have a quick orientation session and meet with Leslie Brians of The Pines Preservation
Guild to discuss the upcoming historic district designation project. We are looking forward to
working with this group of volunteers and taking a closer look at historic preservation in
Carthage.

Respectfully submitted,  
Emily Yopp, Town Manager 

18 18



May and June 2024 Code Enforcement Report 

Open Cases/Cases in Progress: 
1. 202 W. Barrett Street

o Minimum Housing – No change. Status remains.

2. 16 Courthouse Square

o Truck Trailer – Staff met with owner. Legal council is finalizing the complaint

from the Town for refusing abatement.

3. Kester Road Junk Vehicles / Junk Yard

o Junk Vehicles / Junk Yard – Status still remains.

4. 136 Union Church Road

o Minimum Housing – On May 24, Code Enforcement Staff met with the owners to

discuss a timeline for repairs. There was an agreement of a six-month timeline for

abatement.

5. 106 Sanford Street

o Tractor Trailer used as storage / Unpermitted Structures – Owner stated he would

cover the trailer in siding that would satisfy the need of abatement.

6. 511 Vass-Carthage Road

o Outdoor Storage – Second letter was sent on 6/7/2024 for a hearing.

Cases Closed: 

1. 218 Westview Road

Unpermitted Business / Incorrect Zoning – Hearing was held on 5/20/2024 and approved

by the Board of Commissioners.

19 19



TOWN OF CARTHAGE
CASH POSITION

FUND MAY 2024 APRIL 2024 MARCH 2024
#10 Cash on Hand

Petty Cash $300.00 $300.00 $300.00
Crime Investigation $200.00 $200.00 $200.00

#10 General Fund
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $1,030,496.45 $1,492,797.88 $1,758,919.76
CD Mature 03/20/2024 (0.02% Yield) $25,437.02 $25,437.02 $25,426.92
NC Capital Trust (5.23% Yield) $939,235.77 $934,920.23 $930,919.16

#10 Firemens' Fraternal
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $14,368.00 $14,368.00 $14,368.00

#10 McConnell Marker
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $200.00 $200.00 $200.00

#10 Restricted Performance Bond
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $23,632.00 $23,632.00 $23,632.00

#10 Carriage Hills Surety
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $20,000.00 $180,454.25 $180,454.25

#10 Carriage Place Townhomes Surety
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $35,000.00 $35,000.00 $35,000.00

#10 Historical 
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $1,685.14 $1,685.14 $1,685.14

#15 Powell Bill Fund
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $40,310.13 $71,261.39 $74,067.62
NC Capital Trust (5.23% Yield) $93,117.50 $92,706.02 $92,309.28

20 20



MAY 2024 APRIL 2024 MARCH 2024

#30 Water
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $351,903.59 $407,306.55 $430,941.09
CD Mature 03/20/2024 (.02% Yield) $17,300.70 $17,300.70 $17,293.73
NC Capital Trust (5.23% Yield) $338,000.28 $336,506.70 $335,066.59

#31 Sewer
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $1,207,586.84 $1,589,346.03 $1,530,273.17
CD Mature 03/20/2024 (.20% Yield) $17,300.69 $17,300.69 $17,293.72
NC Capital Trust (5.23% Yield) $97,043.94 $96,615.11 $96,201.64

#35 Capital Reserve Water & Sewer Improvements
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $508,992.09 $508,992.09 $508,992.09

#70 Cemetery
Central Depository (.05% Yield) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
NC Capital Trust (5.23% Yield) $29,173.60 $29,044.69 $28,920.39

TOTALS $4,791,283.74 $5,875,374.49 $6,102,464.55

21 21



Carthage, NC
This report was generated on 6/3/2024 10:38:30 AM

Carthage Fire Department

Incident Statistics

Zone(s): All Zones | Start Date: 05/01/2024 | End Date: 05/31/2024

INCIDENT COUNT

INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS
EMS 43

FIRE 53

TOTAL 96

TOTAL TRANSPORTS (N2 and N3)

APPARATUS # of APPARATUS 
TRANSPORTS

# of PATIENT TRANSPORTS TOTAL # of PATIENT 
CONTACTS

TOTAL

PRE-INCIDENT VALUE LOSSES

$0.00 $0.00

CO CHECKS

TOTAL

MUTUAL AID

Aid Type Total
Aid Given 6

Aid Received 4

OVERLAPPING CALLS

# OVERLAPPING % OVERLAPPING

13 13.54

LIGHTS AND SIREN - AVERAGE RESPONSE TIME (Dispatch to Arrival)

Station EMS FIRE

Carthage Fire & Rescue 0:07:50 0:08:33

AVERAGE FOR ALL CALLS 0:06:39

LIGHTS AND SIREN - AVERAGE TURNOUT TIME (Dispatch to Enroute)

Station EMS FIRE

Carthage Fire & Rescue 0:03:59 0:03:30

AVERAGE FOR ALL CALLS 0:02:47

AGENCY AVERAGE TIME ON SCENE (MM:SS)
Carthage Fire Department 27:31

Doc Id: 1645
emergencyreporting.com

Only Reviewed Incidents included. EMS for Incident counts includes only 300 to 399 Incident Types. All other incident 
types are counted as FIRE. CO Checks only includes Incident Types: 424, 736 and 734. # Apparatus  Transports = # 
of incidents where apparatus transported. # Patient Transports = All patients transported by EMS. #  Patient Contacts 
= # of PCR contacted by apparatus. This report now returns both NEMSIS 2 & 3 data as appropriate. For overlapping 
calls that span over multiple days, total per month will not equal Total count for year. Page # 1 of 122 22



Citation/Warning Type Citation Date/Time Agency Case Number Race Gender

Written Warning 2024-06-04 06:58 W - White F - Female
Written Warning 2024-06-04 19:50 24-002851 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-06-03 20:41 24-002828 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-06-01 12:29 24-002775 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-06-02 16:14 W - White F - Female
Written Warning 2024-05-29 13:05 24-002705 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-29 13:20 24-002706 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-28 09:34 24-002676 B - Black or African American F - Female
Written Warning 2024-05-28 16:44 24-002685 W - White F - Female
Citation 2024-05-29 06:35 24-002700 W - White F - Female
Written Warning 2024-05-24 19:16 24-002615 I - American Indian or Alaska Native M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-27 01:08 24-002647 W - White M - Male
Citation 2024-05-25 11:15 24-002633 B - Black or African American M - Male
Citation 2024-05-25 11:15 24-002633 B - Black or African American M - Male
Citation 2024-05-24 03:20 W - White F - Female
Written Warning 2024-05-19 19:12 24-002508 B - Black or African American F - Female
Written Warning 2024-05-22 21:47 24-002580 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-22 21:25 24-002579 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-21 21:20 24-002556 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-21 21:30 24-002557 B - Black or African American M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-17 23:38 24-002474 B - Black or African American M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-18 14:56 24-002477 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-03 16:26 24-002199 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-14 19:25 24-002415 W - White M - Male
Written Warning 2024-05-14 20:14 24-002417 W - White F - Female

Carthage Police Department   |   Citation / Warning (NC)s:  247 Results |   

Exported from Carthage PD SOMAHub on: Mon Jun 10 2024 10:43:33 
GMT-0400 (Eastern Daylight Time)

1 of 123 23



Incident Number Reference # Primary Offense
I20240608-01 24-002443
I20240513-47 24-002388 13C - Intimidation : Informational
I20240510-17 24-002332 90Z - All Other Offenses : Informational
I20240527-10 24-002655 13B - Simple Assault
I20240527-07 24-002654 90Z - All Other Offenses : Death
I20240525-04 24-002627 13B - Simple Assault
I20240505-04 24-002239 90Z - All Other Offenses : Information
I20240513-15 24-002377 23H - All Other Larceny
I20240509-06 24-002293 90Z-01 - Annoying Calls : Harassing Phone Calls
I20240529-17 24-002591 90Z - All Other Offenses : Info
I20240509-05 24-002310 90Z - All Other Offenses : Property Damage
I20240525-02 24-002620 13B - Simple Assault
I20240519-02 24-002503 23G - Theft of Motor Vehicle Parts or Accessories
I20240520-01 24-002523 23C - Shoplifting
I20240529-50 24-002710 23G - Theft of Motor Vehicle Parts or Accessories
I20240527-01 24-002645 90Z - All Other Offenses : Tree Fell on house due to storm.
I20240513-19 24-002380 90Z-45 - UNAUTH Use Of VEH : Unauthorized Possession of MV
I20240507-02 24-002262 90Z - All Other Offenses : Well-Being Check
I20240529-08 24-002702 23H - All Other Larceny
I20240524-13 24-002616 90Z - All Other Offenses : Emergency Commitment
I20240526-01 24-002633 90D - Driving Under the Influence
I20240524-04 24-002595 90Z - All Other Offenses : Practicing Massage Therapy without a License
I20240524-01 24-002601 90D - Driving Under the Influence
I20240506-20 24-002255 90Z - All Other Offenses : Warrant

Carthage Police Department   |   Incident (NC)s:  28 Results | 2024-05-01 - 2024-05-31  

Exported from Carthage PD SOMAHub on: Mon Jun 10 2024 
10:36:52 GMT-0400 (Eastern Daylight Time)

1 of 224 24



Incident Number Reference # Primary Offense
I20240506-05 24-002248 90Z - All Other Offenses : Warrant Service

Carthage Police Department   |   Incident (NC)s:  28 Results | 2024-05-01 - 2024-05-31  

Exported from Carthage PD SOMAHub on: Mon Jun 10 2024 
10:36:52 GMT-0400 (Eastern Daylight Time)

2 of 225 25



Incident Warrant Type Arrest Date U C R/N I B R S 
Offenses

Race Gender Obtained 
Location (F 
I P S)

Offense 
Date/Time

I20240607-36 Misdemeanor 
Warrant

2024-06-07T11:55:00.000Z 90Z - All Other 
Offenses

W - White M - 
Male

125 - 
Moore

2024-05-22 
00:00

I20240526-01 Citation Issued 2024-05-26T15:19:00.000Z 90D - Driving Under 
the Influence,90Z - All 
Other Offenses

B - Black or 
African 
American

M - 
Male

125 - 
Moore

2024-05-25 
23:15

I20240524-04 Misdemeanor 
Warrant

2024-05-23T23:00:00.000Z 90Z - All Other 
Offenses

A - Asian F - 
Female

125 - 
Moore

2024-05-23 
17:00

I20240524-01 Felony Warrant 2024-05-24T07:46:00.000Z 35A - Drug/Narcotic 
Violations,90D - 
Driving Under the 
Influence

W - White F - 
Female

125 - 
Moore

2024-05-24 
00:00

I20240506-05 Misdemeanor 
Warrant

2024-05-06T12:54:00.000Z 90Z - All Other 
Offenses

B - Black or 
African 
American

M - 
Male

105 - Lee 2024-05-01 
00:00

Carthage Police Department   |   Warrants:  5 Results | 2024-05-01 - 2024-05-31  

Exported from Carthage PD SOMAHub on: Mon Jun 10 2024 10:41:09
GMT-0400 (Eastern Daylight Time)

1 of 126 26



MONTHLY REPORT 
MAY 2024 

   Water Service 
Locates Work Orders Cut-Offs / Tags Meters Installed Water Main/ 

Service Repairs 

Water Taps 

136   50 52 6 0 2 

   Sewer Service 
Service 

Renewals 

Lift Station 

Repairs 

Force Main 

Repairs 

Mowed Outfall 

Lines 

Town Sewer 

Backups 

Sewer Taps 

0 0 0 1 2 0 

   Building & Grounds 
Leaf & Limb 

Total Rounds 

Trash Runs Complete 

Mowed Rounds 

Building 

 Repairs 

2 3 

   Streets 
Cleaned Out 

Catch Basin 

Cleaned Streets 

With Blower 

1 

     Construction Projects 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Additional Notes 

27 27



MEMORANDUM 
Date: June 10, 2024 

To: The Board of Commissioners 

From:  Kim Gibson, Town Clerk 

Subject: REPUBLIC SERVICES AMENDED CONTRACT 

In the preliminary Budget Retreat Meeting held in March, the Board was made aware of the expiring 
contract with Republic Services, the Town’s solid waste management contractor and their proposed $2 
increase per can for customers.  The Board asked Staff to seek bids to ensure that the increased cost 
was in line with market value to ensure good stewardship of taxpayer dollars. 

Staff researched nearly every municipality within the County that provides trash service and found that 
the proposed rate given by Republic Services was lower than the market rate. The Board agreed to 
continue renew the contract, as they have provided excellent service, but asked Mrs. Yopp to attempt to 
negotiate a better price, if possible. Mrs. Yopp was able to negotiate the cost from $12.99/can to 
$12/can. 

That amended contract is attached for the Board’s review. Renewal is due by June 30, 2024, when the 
former contract expires and will be for a term of five years. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

OPTION 1 
I make a motion to approve the amended contract with Republic Service as written and 
presented for trash service at $12 per can for a term of five years. 

OPTION 2 
I make a motion to disapprove the amended contract with Republic Service for the following 
reason(s). 

28 28



29 29



MEMORANDUM 

Date: June 17, 2024 

To: The Board of Commissioners 

From:  Jennifer Hunt, Town Planner 

Subject: S-02-24: SITE PLAN RIPPLE FIBER; PETITIONER: RIPPLE FIBER

I. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION REQUEST:
The applicant, Wes Carlisle, on behalf of Ripple Fiber submitted a Site Plan approval application with
the Town of Carthage on March 20, 2024. Payment was received on May 29, 2024, for the site plan
application. Ripple Fiber would like to provide fiber to the homes in Carthage. They will be providing
fiber in three phases and working with Town Staff for the project. They have phase 1 which includes
1.1, 1.2 and 1.3. Phase 2 includes 2.1 and 2.2. Phase 3 includes 3.1 and 3.2. Please view Attachment
1 for a map of their phases.

Ripple Fiber has met with Town Staff for the Technical Review Committee meeting, NCDOT and our
engineers. They will work with Town Staff on the project timeline and plan to complete the fiber
project within 8 months. This timeline will be aligned with staff capability and may take longer due
to the limited staff we have and work capability.

II. PROJECT INFORMATION:
1. PARID: All throughout Carthage 

2. Applicant: Ripple Fiber 

III. APPLICATION REVIEW:
A. Review Process:

Applications for site plan review are pursuant to Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Section
100.24 “Board of Commissioners” and UDO Section 100.64 (D) “Site-Specific Vesting Plan.”

Sec. 100.24 Board of Commissioners 

Without limiting any authority granted to the Board of Commissioners by General Statutes or by 
other Ordinances of the Town, the Board of Commissioners shall have the following powers and 
duties with respect to this Ordinance: 

1. To adopt, amend or repeal this Ordinance;
2. To adopt amendments to the Official Zoning Map;
3. To adopt design guidelines for the Historic Preservation Overlay Districts;
4. To approve or deny requests for approval of major preliminary and final subdivision plats,

Special Use Permits, Conditional Zoning, Vested Rights, and major site plans;
5. To perform the powers and duties of a Board of Adjustment; and,
6. Such additional powers and duties as may be set forth in this Ordinance.

30 30



Sec. 100.64 Site-Specific Vesting Plan (D) 

D. The Administrator shall place the Site Plan on the next regularly scheduled meeting of the
Board of Commissioners occurring at least ten (10) days after the Planning Board’s
recommendation.

The Board of Commissioners shall review the Site Plan and either approve, 
approve with conditions, reject the site plan, or refer the plan back to the Planning Board for 
further consideration. If the Board of Commissioners rejects a site plan, then the reasons 
therefore shall be stated in the record of action on the plan. 

The Board of Commissioners may approve a site plan only if it meets the standards and 
requirements set forth in this Ordinance and provides adequate public facilities and 
improvements as provided for herein. 

The subdivision standards contained in Sec. 100.65 shall serve as the basic standards for site 
plan development along with the specific standards set forth in the Special Requirement for the 
use or uses. 

C. Staff Comments:

Fiber internet is an added value to the citizens of Carthage. The ability to complete the project
as fast as Ripple Fiber would like too will be dependent on staff capability and a mindful work
schedule. The Town of Carthage has limited staff however we are determined to help them
complete their project as quickly as possible. Ripple Fiber is required to let the Town Planner
know when each phase and subphase is completed. The Town of Carthage will ensure there is
no damage done by inspecting the fiber 1 year after completion. Ripple Fiber will be required to
sign an Encroachment Agreement which is being drafted by our Town Attorney.

The Planning Board recommends approval with all ayes, except Antoinette Kelly abstained from
voting. Antionette Kelly recommended Ripple Fiber extend service down her road near the
airport, Burle Road. She said there are many people who need the internet and have tried to get
it in the past but have not been able to do so.

IV. ATTACHMENTS PROVIDED BY THE APPLICANT:

1. Attachment 1: Full Phasing Plan for Ripple Fiber

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) ON NEXT PAGE 

31 31



V. BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS ACTION:

The Board of Commissioners (BOC) shall review the Site Plan and either approve, approve with
conditions, reject the site plan, or refer the plan back to the Planning Board for further
consideration. If the Board of Commissioners rejects a site plan, then the reasons
therefore, shall be stated in the record of action on the plan per UDO Section 100.64 (D) of the
Town of Carthage Unified Development Ordinance (UDO).

OPTION 1 
I make a motion to approve Site Plan (S-02-24) as written and presented. 

or 

OPTION 2 
I make a motion to approve Site Plan (S-02-24) with the following conditions….. 

or 

OPTION 3 
I make a motion to reject Site Plan (S-02-24) for the following reasons….. 

32 32



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPT.
OF TRANSPORTATION DIVISION OF 
HIGHWAYS RALEIGH, N.C.

TOWN OF CARTHAGE

LEGEND

PRIVATE ROADS

Core Overview Schematic

3 of 52

N

1:50

80400 20

OWNER:

REVISIONS

CONTRACTOR:

10810 INDEPENDENCE POINTE PKWY UNIT C,
MATTHEWS, NORTH CAROLINA, 28105

OFFICE: +1 980 362 2939

Inches

ROCK HILL, SC 29730
OFFICE: (704) 451-9700

NO. DATE BYDESCRIPTION

SHEET TITLE:

FDA:001.1
FDA: 

Cnr Camp Easter (SR-1853) and 
OLT LOCATION: 

PD_Carthage_Phase 1_FDA_001.1 
FILE NAME: 

Permit Drawing
PROJECT TYPE: 

Permit Drawing_Carthage_Phase 1
PROJECT NAME:

1 03/20/2024 REV001 TM

596 HERRONS FERRY RD - 3RD FLOOR

Holly Rd (SR-1861)

FDA_001.1 

Pi
ne

hu
rs

t A
ve

 (S
R

-1
87

7)
 

Connell (SR-1256) 

US 15-5
01 H

wy 

Pinehurst Ave (SR-1877) 

S
 M

cN
ei

ll 
S

t (
N

C
-2

2)
 

S
 M

cN
eill S

t (N
C

-22) 

33 33



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPT.
OF TRANSPORTATION DIVISION OF 
HIGHWAYS RALEIGH, N.C.

TOWN OF CARTHAGE

LEGEND

PRIVATE ROADS

Core Overview Schematic

3 of 38

N

1:50

80400 20

OWNER:

REVISIONS

CONTRACTOR:

10810 INDEPENDENCE POINTE PKWY UNIT C,
MATTHEWS, NORTH CAROLINA, 28105

OFFICE: +1 980 362 2939

Inches

ROCK HILL, SC 29730
OFFICE: (704) 451-9700

NO. DATE BYDESCRIPTION

SHEET TITLE:

FDA:001.2
FDA: 

 Cnr Camp Easter (SR-1853) and
OLT LOCATION: 

PD_Carthage_Phase 1_FDA_1.2 
FILE NAME: 

Permit Drawing
PROJECT TYPE: 

Permit Drawing_Carthage_Phase 1_FDA_1.2 
PROJECT NAME:

1 03/20/2024 REV001 PM

596 HERRONS FERRY RD - 3RD FLOOR

Holly Rd (SR-1861)

34 34



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPT.
OF TRANSPORTATION DIVISION OF 
HIGHWAYS RALEIGH, N.C.

TOWN OF CARTHAGE

LEGEND

PRIVATE ROADS

Core Overview Schematic

3 of 53

N

1:50

80400 20

OWNER:

REVISIONS

CONTRACTOR:

10810 INDEPENDENCE POINTE PKWY UNIT C,
MATTHEWS, NORTH CAROLINA, 28105

OFFICE: (704) 309 3067

Inches

ROCK HILL, SC 29730
OFFICE: (704) 451-9700

NO. DATE BYDESCRIPTION

SHEET TITLE:

FDA:1.3
FDA: 

Cnr Camp Easter (SR-1853) and Holly Rd (SR-1861) 
OLT LOCATION: 

PD_Carthage_Phase 1_FDA_1.3
FILE NAME: 

Permit Drawing
PROJECT TYPE: 

Carthage_Phase 1_FDA_1.3
PROJECT NAME:

1 03/22/2024 REV001 MM

596 HERRONS FERRY RD - 3RD FLOOR

35 35



Core Overview Schematic

3 of 53

N

1:50

80400 20

OWNER:

REVISIONS

CONTRACTOR:

10810 INDEPENDENCE POINTE PKWY UNIT C,
MATTHEWS, NORTH CAROLINA, 28105

OFFICE: +1 980 362 2939

Inches

ROCK HILL, SC 29730
OFFICE: (704) 451-9700

NO. DATE BYDESCRIPTION

SHEET TITLE:

FDA: 

OLT LOCATION: 

FILE NAME: 

PROJECT TYPE: 

PROJECT NAME:

1

596 HERRONS FERRY RD - 3RD FLOOR

03/19/2024 FIRST ISSUE MH

02.1

PD_Carthage_Phase 1_FDA_02.1

Permit Drawing

Carthage Phase 1 FDA 02.1

Corner Camp Easter Rd & Holly Rd

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPT.
OF TRANSPORTATION DIVISION OF 
HIGHWAYS RALEIGH, N.C.

TOWN OF CARTHAGE

LEGEND

PRIVATE ROADS

36 36



Core Overview Schematic

3 of 50

N

1:50

80400 20

OWNER:

REVISIONS

CONTRACTOR:

10810 INDEPENDENCE POINTE PKWY UNIT C,
MATTHEWS, NORTH CAROLINA, 28105

OFFICE: +1 980 362 2939

Inches

ROCK HILL, SC 29730
OFFICE: (704) 451-9700

NO. DATE BYDESCRIPTION

SHEET TITLE:

FDA: 

OLT LOCATION: 

FILE NAME: 

PROJECT TYPE: 

PROJECT NAME:

1

596 HERRONS FERRY RD - 3RD FLOOR

03/18/2024 FIRST ISSUE TH

02.2

PD_Carthage_Phase 1_FDA_02.2

Permit Drawing

Carthage Phase 1 FDA 02.2

Corner Camp Easter Rd & Holly Rd

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPT.
OF TRANSPORTATION DIVISION OF 
HIGHWAYS RALEIGH, N.C.

TOWN OF CARTHAGE

LEGEND

PRIVATE ROADS

37 37



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPT.
OF TRANSPORTATION DIVISION OF 
HIGHWAYS RALEIGH, N.C.

TOWN OF CARTHAGE

LEGEND

PRIVATE ROADS

Core Overview Schematic

3 of 38

N

1:50

80400 20

OWNER:

REVISIONS

CONTRACTOR:

10810 INDEPENDENCE POINTE PKWY UNIT C,
MATTHEWS, NORTH CAROLINA, 28105

OFFICE: +1 980 362 2939

Inches

ROCK HILL, SC 29730
OFFICE: (704) 451-9700

NO. DATE BYDESCRIPTION

SHEET TITLE:

FDA: 

OLT LOCATION: 

FILE NAME: 

PROJECT TYPE: 

PROJECT NAME:

1

596 HERRONS FERRY RD - 3RD FLOOR

03/18/2024 REV 001 JO

003.2

PD_Carthage_FDA_003.2

Permit Drawing

PD Carthage Phase 1 FDA 003.2

Cnr Camp Easter (SR-1853) and Holly Rd
 (SR-1861)

38 38



Core Overview Schematic

3 of 59

N

1:50

80400 20

OWNER:

REVISIONS

CONTRACTOR:

10810 INDEPENDENCE POINTE PKWY UNIT C,
MATTHEWS, NORTH CAROLINA, 28105

OFFICE: +1 980 362 2939

Inches

ROCK HILL, SC 29730
OFFICE: (704) 451-9700

NO. DATE BYDESCRIPTION

SHEET TITLE:

FDA: 

OLT LOCATION: 

FILE NAME: 

PROJECT TYPE: 

PROJECT NAME:

1

596 HERRONS FERRY RD - 3RD FLOOR

03/18/2024 REV 001 MB

003.1

PD_Carthage_FDA_003.1

Permit Drawing

PD Carthage Phase 1 FDA 003.1

Cnr Camp Easter (SR-1853) and Holly Rd
 (SR-1861)

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPT.
OF TRANSPORTATION DIVISION OF 
HIGHWAYS RALEIGH, N.C.

TOWN OF CARTHAGE

LEGEND

PRIVATE ROADS

39 39



MEMORANDUM 

Date: June 17, 2024 

To: The Board of Commissioners 

From:  Kim Gibson, Town Clerk and Jamie Sandoval, Management Analyst 

Subject: CREATION OF SPECIAL EVENTS COMMITTEE AND ORDINANCE 

Town Staff was approached by several community members regarding a Special Events Committee. Staff has 
been working with this group of volunteers, a total of six, to form and draft a Special Events Committee and 
Ordinance. Since staff have been tasked with planning, staffing, and facilitate multiple events each year, it has 
been extremely difficult to maintain and function/focus on daily tasks as well.  

Staff recommends that the Board of Commissioners consider the creation of the Special Events Committee and 
review the Draft Ordinance presented.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

OPTION #1 

I move to approve the creation of the Special Events Committee and adopt the Special Events Committee 
Ordinance proposed language as written and presented.  

OR 

OPTION #2 

I move to approve the creation of the Special Events Committee and adopt the Special Events Committee Ordinance 
with the following changes:  

OR 

OPTION #3 

I move to deny the creation of the Special Events Committee and the Special Events Committee Ordinance 
proposed language for the following reason(s):   

40 40



Town of Carthage 
Ordinance No. ORD.24.11 

CREATION OF A SPECIAL EVENTS COMMITTEE 

PURPOSE.  

The purpose of the Special Events Committee is as follows: 

(A) To allow a Special Events Committee to plan events and activities relating to the Town of Carthage and any
other publicly sponsored special event or festival within the Town of Carthage.

(B) To recommend action by the Town of Carthage concerning events, issues and activities relating to the Town
of Carthage and any other publicly sponsored special events or festivals the Town of Carthage wishes or
recommends.

(C) To recommend improvements to the Town of Carthage for any electricity and water upgrades to maintain
and improve events and activities within the Town of Carthage.

COMPOSITION. 

The Special Events Committee shall consist of five to seven voting members, none of which shall be an elected official 
of the Town of Carthage.  

CHAIRPERSON. 

(A) There shall be one Chairperson of the Special Events Committee, elected by a majority vote of the Special
Events Committee.

(B) The Chairperson of the Special Events Committee shall serve a two-year term.

(C) The Chairperson shall preside at each meeting of the Committee and shall otherwise supervise the affairs of
the Committee. It shall be the responsibility of the Chairperson to lead each meeting and conduct votes of
the Committee.

SECRETARY. 

(A) The Secretary shall be elected by a majority vote of the Special Events Committee.

(B) The Secretary of the Special Events Committee shall serve a two-year term.

(C) The Secretary shall be responsible for creating, publishing, and upkeeping all of the Special Events
Committees’ documents that include minutes, agendas, and internal policies.

41 41



(D) The Secretary shall also be responsible for presiding over the Committee when the Chairperson is not in
attendance.

QUALIFICATIONS AND APPOINTMENT. 

The Committee is advisory in nature but manages all events and festivals for the Town of Carthage. Members of the 
Committee shall have an interest in the welfare of the Town of Carthage. The term of each member shall be two-year 
staggered terms. If members cannot serve the two-year term, applications shall be open for the vacancy. Any 
vacancy occurring shall be filled for the remainder of the unexpired term by appointment of the Board of 
Commissioners.  

LIASON TO COMMITTEE. 

The Town of Carthage staff is not required to serve as liaison members; however, can be present when necessary. 
Department Heads shall attend meetings as needed to ensure communication on public safety.  

MEETINGS. 

The Committee shall meet no less than quarterly and additionally as deemed necessary by the Chairperson. A 
quorum shall consist of four members of the seven and no official business of the Committee shall be conducted 
without a quorum present. If there is a vote that cannot be obtained due to the number of those in attendance, the 
vote split shall be designated to the Board of Commissioners at their next scheduled meeting. Attendance shall be 
recorded at every meeting. Attendance is not mandatory; however, the Committee can require that members have 
approval for absence excusal by vote. Three absences in a row shall call for the removal of the committee member. 
The Committee may adopt its own rules of procedure not inconsistent with this subchapter.  

SUBCOMMITTEES. 

Sub-committees shall be created for each event or festival managed by the Special Events Committee. There may be 
sub-committees dedicated to assisting with private events. To create a sub-committee to assist with private events, a 
vote is required by the Special Events Committee to create the sub-committee. 

EVENTS AND FESTIVALS. 

The Special Events Committee shall be responsible for managing and communicating with the Town of Carthage 
Board of Commissioners on all special events and festivals. The Special Events shall be responsible for the Town of 
Carthage’s Buggy Festival and the Town of Carthage’s Merry Thanksgiving Fall Festival and the Buggy Town Christmas 
and Christmas Parade.  

Any changed dates or times to the existing events and festivals must be approved by the Board of Commissioners. 
Newly created events and festivals must be approved by the Board of Commissioners with proposed dates and times 
of the event or festival.  

Approval for changes to existing events and festivals and new events or festivals must be approved by the Board of 
Commissioners no less than one year before the event or festival.  

42 42



COMPENSATION. 

No member of the committee shall receive any compensation for services. 

The foregoing ordinance, having been submitted to a vote, received the following vote, and was duly adopted and 

ordained this 17th day of June 2024. 

____ 
    Jimmy Chalflinch, Mayor 

Attest: 

__________________________________ 
Kimberly Gibson, Town Clerk 

Ayes:      _______ 

Nays:      _______ 

Absent/Excused:    _______ 

43 43



MEMORANDUM 

Date: June 17, 2024 

To: Board of Commissioners 

From:  Jamie Sandoval, Management Analyst/Clerk to the Planning Board 

Subject: OPEN APPLICATIONS FOR ETJ MEMBERS FOR A SEAT ON THE PLANNING BOARD  

An email was sent on June 6th, 2024, from Planning Board ETJ member Dena DeLucia resigning from her position. 

The Planning Board has made a recommendation to open applications to fill the vacant ETJ seat.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

OPTION 1 
I make a motion to approve to open applications to fill the vacant Planning Board ETJ seat. 

or 

OPTION 2 
I make a motion to deny to open applications to fill the vacant Planning Board ETJ seat for the 
following reason(s):    . 

44 44



MEMORANDUM 

Date: June 12, 2024 

To: The Board of Commissioners 

From:  Emily D. Yopp, Town Manager 

Subject: FY 2024-2025 BUDGET PUBLIC HEARING 

The Board of Commissioners and public were presented with a balanced FY 2024-2025 budgets on May 
15, 2024. Per NC General Statute, the Town Clerk has made all required public notice and the 10-day 
minimum wait time has been satisfied.  

The Board of Commissioners will open the public hearing for the FY 2024-2025 Budget. The order of the 
proceedings shall be as follows: 

1. Presentation by Emily D. Yopp, Town Manager
2. Receive public comment.
3. Close public comment and enter deliberations. Board may continue to ask questions of staff.
4. Motions and votes.

SUGGESTED MOTIONS 

OPTION 1 

I move to adopt the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget as written and presented and set a tax rate of 
50.5 cents. 

OPTION 2 

I move to adopt the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget with a tax rate of 50.5 cents but with the 

following changes:   

45 45



Fee & Rate Schedule 

PUBLIC UTILITIES 

Water Service Deposit $ 100.00 
Late Penalty Fee $   50.00 
Weekly Trash Pickup  $   11.99 /month/per can 

Encroachment Permit  $   25.00 
Trash or Rubbish Removal $   25.00 plus any/all costs incurred 

Water/Sewer Taps 
WATER 

Meter Size Base Fee Additional Costs 
¾ inch $1,500 * $500 Street Bore 
1 inch $1,750 * $500 Street Bore 
2 inch $3,500 * $500 Street Bore 

4 in/6 in/8 in Cost Plus Materials (TBD) Cost Plus Materials (TBD) 
¾ in Split Irrigation $600 $500 Street Bore 

Greater than ¾ in Irrigation Size Match Reg Meter As Above $500 Street Bore 
SEWER 

Meter Size Base Fee Additional Costs 
Up to 4 inches $1,000 * $500 Street Bore 
Over 4 inches $2,000 * $500 Street Bore 

* Upon approval by the Director of Public Services, installation of water and sewer lines and laterals may be done by a
developer or his agent (copy of the utility contractor’s State of NC License may be requested). Such connection work
will be subject to inspection and approval by the Director of Public Services. No work shall commence without prior
notification being given to the Director. Tap fees under this exception may have a discount that is agreed upon with
the Public Services Director.

 ALL WATER & SEWER TAP FEES SHALL BE PAID PRIOR TO INSTALLATION OF ANY METER 
OR COMMISSIONING ANY NEW SERVICE CONNECTION. 

Water/Sewer Rates 

Water (In-Town/Irrigation/Bulk) Rates 
Monthly 
Avail Fee 

Up to 
 3,000 gal 

3,001 – 
5,000 gal 

5,001 – 
8,000 gal 

8,001 – 
12,000 gal 

12,001 – 
30,000 gal 

30,001 – 
39,999 gal 

40,000 gal 
and over 

$17.50 $0.0047/gal $0.0057/gal $0.0066/gal $0.0076/gal $0.0088/gal $0.0102/gal $0.0113/gal 
Sewer Rates 

Monthly 
Avail Fee 

Up to 
3,000 gal 

3,001 – 
5,000 gal 

5,001 – 
8,000 gal 

8,001 – 
12,000 gal 

12,001 – 
30,000 gal 

30,001 – 
39,999 gal 

40,000 gal 
and over 

$19.25 $0.0088/gal $0.0097/gal $0.0102/gal $0.0108/gal $0.0114/gal $0.0120/gal $0.0123/gal 

46 46



System Development Fees 

Development Type Water System Development 
Fee @ $2.63/gallon 

Sewer System Development 
Fee @ $6.70/gallon 

Combined Water / 
Sewer System 

Development Fee 
@ $9.33/gallon 

1 & 2 Bedroom Residential Single-
Family Units $710.10 Per unit $1608.00 Per unit $2318.10 per unit 

Single Family with Over 2 
Bedrooms or Multi-family 

Residential 
350.67 Per bedroom 804.00 Per bedroom $1154.67 per 

bedroom 

General Business, Office, and 
Factories (Excluding Industrial Use) $65.75 Per employee/ 

largest shift $167.50 Per employee/ 
largest shift 

$233.25 per 
employee/ largest 

shift 

General Business, Office, and 
Factories (Excluding Industrial Use) 

with Showers or Food Prep 
$92.05 Per employee/ 

largest shift $234.50 Per employee/ 
largest shift 

$326.55 per 
employee / largest 

shift 

Car Wash $3,156.00 Per bay $8040.00 Per bay $11,196.00 per 
bay 

Churches $7.89 Per seat $20.10 Per seat $27.99 per seat 

Churches with Kitchen $13.15 Per seat $33.50 Per seat $46.65 per seat 

Day Care & Preschool $65.75 Per person $167.50 Per person $233.25 per 
person 

Fast Food Restaurant $52.60 Per seat $134.00 Per seat $186.60 per seat 

Fitness Center $131.50 Per 100 ft2 $335.00 Per 100 ft2 $466.50 per 100 ft2 

Full Service Restaurant $105.20 Per seat $268.00 Per seat $373.20 per seat 

Hospital $789.00 Per bed $2010.00 Per bed $2,799.00 per bed 

Laundromat $1,315.00 Per machine $3,350.00 Per machine $4,665.00 per 
machine 

Medical & Dental Offices $657.50 Per practitioner/ 
largest shift $1675.00 Per practitioner/ 

largest shift 

$2,332.50 per 
practitioner / 
largest shift 

Schools (with Gym & Showers) $39.45 Per student $100.50 Per student $139.95 per 
student 

Service/Gas Stations & 
Convenience Stores $657.50 Per plumbing 

fixture $1,675.00 Per plumbing 
fixture 

$2,332.50 per 
plumbing fixture 

Stores & Shopping Centers $263.00 Per 1,000 ft2 $670.00 Per 1,000 ft2 $933.00 per 
1000 ft2 

Stores & Shopping Centers with 
Food Service $341.90 Per 1,000 ft2 $871.00 Per 1,000 ft2 $1,212.90 per 

1000 ft2 

**SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT FEES FOR A NEW SUBDIVISION ARE DUE AT TIME OF PLAT RECORDATION.  ALL 

OTHER SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT FEES ARE DUE AT THE TIME THE DEVELOPMENT PERMITS ARE ISSUED. ** 

47 47



System Development Fees 

Development Type Water System Development 
Fee @ $2.63/gallon 

Sewer System Development 
Fee @ $6.70/gallon 

Combined Water / 
Sewer System 

Development Fee 
@ $9.33/gallon 

3 Bedroom Single Family 
Residential $2,656.00 Per unit $1,503.00 Per unit $4,159.00 

Multifamily or Single Family other 
than 3 Bedroom (Cost per 

Bedroom) 
$885.33 Per bedroom $501.00 Per bedroom $1,386.33 

General Business, Office, and 
Factories (Excluding Industrial Use) $166.00 Per employee/ 

largest shift $167.00 Per employee/ 
largest shift $333.00 

General Business, Office, and 
Factories (Excluding Industrial Use) 

with Showers or Food Prep 
$232.40 Per employee/ 

largest shift $233.80 Per employee/ 
largest shift $466.20 

Churches $19.92 Per seat $20.04 Per bay $39.96 

Churches with Kitchen $33.20 Per seat $33.40 Per seat $66.60 

Full Service Restaurant $265.60 Per seat $267.20 Per seat $532.80 

Fast Food Restaurant $132.80 Per seat $133.60 Per seat $266.40 

Laundromat $3,320.00 Per machine $3,340.00 Per machine $6,660.00 

Medical & Dental Offices $1,660.00 Per practitioner/ 
per shift 

$1,670.00 Medical & 
Dental Offices 

$3,330.00 

Hospital $1,992.00 Per bed $2,004.00 Per bed $3996.00 

Day Care & Preschool $166.00 Per person $167.00 Per person $333.00 

Schools (with Gym & Showers) $99.60 Per student $100.20 Per student $199.80 

Service/Gas Stations & 
Convenience Stores 

$1,660.00 Per plumbing 
fixture 

$1,670.00 Per plumbing 
fixture 

$3,330.00 

Car Wash $7,968.00 Per bay $8,016.00 Per bay $15,984.00 

Fitness Center $332.00 Per 100 ft2 $334.00 Per 100 ft2 $666.00 

Stores & Shopping Centers $664.00 Per 1,000 ft2 $668.00 Per 1,000 ft2 $1,332.00 

Stores & Shopping Centers with 
Food Service $863.20 Per 1,000 ft2 $868.40 Per 1,000 ft2 $1,731.60 

**SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT FEES FOR A NEW SUBDIVISION ARE DUE AT TIME OF PLAT RECORDATION.  ALL 

OTHER SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT FEES ARE DUE AT THE TIME THE DEVELOPMENT PERMITS ARE ISSUED. ** 

48 48



CODE ENFORCEMENT FEES 

• Mowing Neglected Private Lots Cost + 150% / Minimum 1.5 hours 
• Tight Radius – Zero-Turn Mower $    50 / hour 
• Tractor – Rotary Mower $   100 / hour 
• Tractor – Side Arm Mower $    125 / hour 
• Manual Labor for Correcting Violations $    50 / hour per employee 
• Junked Vehicle Removal $    50 + any other costs incurred 
• Open Burning Violation RESIDENTIAL $  250.00 for 1st violation 

$  500.00 per day for any repeat violation 
• Open Burning Violation COMMERCIAL $  500 per stack or pile for 1st violation 

$1,000 per stack or pile per day for any repeat violation by the 
same person or company 

PERMITS & FEES 

Services & Fees 
• Copies/Color Copies $  0.10/0.20 
• Motor Vehicle License Tax $     5  (appl to vehicle registration/tax bill) 
• Police Report Copies $    5  
• Public Records Requests:

o Readily accessible documents up to 25 pages $     5 
o All other requests will be billed at cost-of-service  TBD 

• Returned Check Fee $     25 

An annual license/registration fee is levied for:
• Business Registration Fee $   5 per year ** 
• Beer & Wine Retail Licenses

o Off premise malt beverage $     5 ** 
o Off premise unfortified & fortified wine $     10 ** 
o On premise malt beverage $     15 ** 
o On premise unfortified & fortified wine $     15 ** 

**LATE RENEWALS CHARGED $10 PENALTY PLUS ORIGINAL LICENSE FEE** 

General Use Permits 
• Encroachment Permit (Please see also Encroachment Permit under Public Utilities) $    100 
• Home Occupation $  25 
• Manufactured Home $   100 
• Mobile Food Vendor (annual renewal fee) $    25 
• Open Burning

o Land Clearing $    200 (up to 30 days) 
o Bonfire $      50 

• Residential Accessory Building $    50 
• Residential Additions (including patios & decks):

o Up to 50% of square footage of home $    50 
o Over 50% of square footage of home $      75 

49 49



General Use Permits (continued…) 
• Residential Swimming Pool :  

o Above Ground           $      25 
o In-ground          $      50 

• Sign Permit 
o Special Event (up to 30 days)      $      10 
o Temporary Banner Sign       $      25 
o Permanent Sign        $      75 

• Yard Sale Permit (up to 2 days)           $        5 
 

Planning Permits 
• Development Agreement       $      500  
• Engineering/Consultant Fee               Not to exceed   $10,000 

(As needed for Commercial/Subdivision projects) 

• Major Subdivision Preliminary Plat Review               $    300 + $10 per lot  
o Plat Revisions (per re-review)      $      50 

• Minor Subdivision Plat Review         $       50 
o Plat revisions (per re-review)       $      50 

• Exempt Plat Review $       $      50 
o Plat Revisions (per re-review)       $      50 

• Multi-family Dwellings (more than one dwelling unit, per building)   $    100 + $ 0.20 per sf 
• New Residential (single family dwellings)      $    200 

Commercial Planning Permits 
• Commercial Accessory Building                 $    100   
• Commercial Addition: 

o Up to 50% of the size of existing building      $    125 
o More than 50% of the size of the existing building     $    200 

• Commercial Site Plan Review:      
o Up to 5 acres        $    400 
o 5-10 acres        $    600 
o 10-25 acres        $    800  
o More than 25 acres        $  1000 

• New Commercial Building            $    250 + all applicable fees 

Zoning Permits 
• Certificate of Appropriateness:  

o Minor Work             $      50 
o Major Work                                          $    150 

• Commercial Change of Use/Zoning Only       $      50 
• Conditional Zoning Permit            $    700 + $15 per acre 
• Rezoning Application          $    500  
• Special Use Permit               $    500  
• Street Closing Application            $    300     
• Text Amendment                    $    400 
• Variance/Board of Adjustment Application          $    400  
• Voluntary Annexation                     $    300 + required postage 
• Zoning Compliance Letter                        $      25 
• Zoning Violations/Penalty                          Up to  $    100 per day, per violation 

 

 
50 50



PUBLIC BUILDING RENTALS 

 In-Town Resident Out-Of-Town Resident 
McDonald Building $150 per day $200 per day 
Community (Rock) Building $200 per day $250 per day 
* Refundable Security Deposit $100 one-time fee $100 one-time fee 
Alcohol Permit $50 one-time fee $50 one-time fee 

 

*Deposits will be refunded after an inspection has been completed. If additional cleaning is required or there 
are damages, the Town will keep the deposit. Please allow 2-3 weeks for the refund to be processed. 

 

CROSS HILL CEMETERY 

Single Cemetery Plot: 
 In-Town Resident       $     500 each 
 Out-Of-Town Resident       $     750 each 
  

WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

Small Wireless Facilities 
 Small Wireless Facilities Consulting Fees       $     500 
 Town Application Fee:                   $     100 per facility for the first 5 only 

(Up to 25 can be submitted under one application)             $       50 per facility up to 25   
 
Eligible Facilities Request 
 Town Application Fee         $     500 
 Consultant Fee        $     500 per application  
 Expedited Application Process      $   2500 
 
New Tower/Substantial Modification 
 Town Application Fee       $   2500    
 Consultant Fee        $     500 per application  
 
 Please see also Encroachment Permit under Public Utilities 
 

 

51 51



52 52



53 53



54 54



55 55



56 56



57 57



58 58



59 59



60 60



61 61



62 62



63 63



64 64



65 65



66 66



67 67



68 68



69 69



70 70



71 71



72 72



73 73



74 74



75 75



76 76



77 77



78 78



79 79



80 80



81 81



82 82



83 83



84 84



85 85



86 86



87 87



88 88



89 89



90 90



91 91



92 92



Town of Carthage 
Ordinance No. ORD.24.12 

TOWN OF CARTHAGE BUDGET ORDINANCE 
FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Carthage, North Carolina, in regular session 
assembled this 17th day of June 2024 as follows: 

SECTION 1.  It is estimated that the following revenues will be available in the General Fund for the fiscal year 
beginning July 1, 2024 and ending June 30, 2025  to meet the appropriations as set forth in the following 
schedule.  All fees and sums paid to or collected by any Town official, officer or agent for any Town service or 
for any Town Program or project shall insure to the benefit of the Town and become Town funds. 

A. GENERAL FUND REVENUES

Real & Personal Taxes 2,090,791 
Fire Tax 343,095 
Taxes, Motor Vehicles 154,985 
Real Prior Years 4,750 
Motor Vehicle Prior 0 
Motor Vehicle License Tax 11,000 
Rental Tax -1,000
Tax Relief /  -500
Motor Vehicle Relief/Refunds 1000
Tax Interest / Penalty 5,000
Motor Vehicle Interest/Penalty 1,000
Business Registration Fees 750 
Interest Earned 48,000 
McDonald Building Rent 5,000 
Community Building  5,000 
Historical Proceeds 500 
Appearance Committee 500 
Utilities Franchise Tax 196,000    
Beer & Wine Tax 11,400 
Parking Tickets 50 
Zoning Permits 30,000 
Solid Waste Tax 2,314 
Local Option Sales Tax 1,125,000 
ABC Revenue 37,500 
Court Costs 1,000 
Christmas Parade     2,000 
Trash Collection  222,600 
Street Lamp Fees     2,700 

93 93



Cemetery Plot Sales      2,000 
American Tower Lease    54,000 
Police Forfeitures   500 
Fire Department Donations   350   
Permits & Fees    500 
Yard Sales   150 
Fund Balance Appropriation  271,983 
Cemetery Donations    0 
State Fire Protection      1,700 
Administrative Charge-Fire District   12,000 
Loan Proceeds  256,800 
NC DOT Mowing Agreement      9,300 
Fall Festival     1,500 
Transfer from Cemetery Fund      1,500 
Grant Proceeds    50,129 
Moore County Parking Lot Lease     4,000 
Miscellaneous    20,000 
Park Donations    25,000  

Total General Fund Revenues 5,011,847 

B. GENERAL FUND DEPARTMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS

Governing Body 28,676 
Administration 813,843 
Election 0 
Legal 74,000 
Planning and Zoning 226,221 
Public Buildings and Grounds 213,069 
Police 1,649,943 
Finance 189,877 
Fire 1,077,941 
Streets 475,581 
Sanitation/Shop 212,032 
Cemetery 3,000 
Parks and Recreation 26,800 
Historic Preservation 14,979 
Appearance Committee 5,885 
Contingency/Reserve 0 

Total General Fund Expenditures 5,011,847 

C. WATER AND SEWER FUND REVENUES

WATER REVENUES 
Interest 16,800 
Water Rent 1,010,000 
Water Tap/Connection Fees 10,000 
Water Reconnection Fees  15,000 
Water System Development Fees 100,000 
Meter Set Fees    35,000 
Telephone Reimbursement 500  
Water Fund Balance Appropriation 151,388 

94 94



Water Grant Funding 0 
Loan Proceeds 143,000   

Total Water Revenues 1,481,688 

SEWER REVENUES 
Interest 4,800 
Sewer Rent 810,000 
Sewer Tap/Connection Fees     5,000 
Sewer System Development Fees 150,000 
Sewer Fund Balance Appropriation 159,500 
Transfer from Capital Projects 0 

Total Sewer Revenues 1,129,300 

Total Water and Sewer Fund Revenues 2,610,988 

D. WATER AND SEWER FUND EXPENDITURES

Water Operations 1,481,688 
Sewer Operations 1,129,300 
Contingency/Reserve 0 

Total Water and Sewer Fund Expenditures 2,610,988 

E. POWELL BILL FUND REVENUES

State Funds 106,257 
Interest Income 5,000 
Fund Balance Appropriation 0 

Total Powell Bill Fund Revenues 111,257 

F. POWELL BILL FUND APPROPRIATIONS

Operations 111,257 

Total Powell Bill Fund Expenditures 111,257 

G. CEMETERY FUND REVENUES

Interest Income 1,500 

Total Cemetery Fund Revenues 1,500 

95 95



H. CEMETERY FUND APPROPRIATIONS

Transfer to General Fund 1,500 

Total Cemetery Fund Expenditures 1,500 

Total Estimated Revenues from All Funds 7,735,592 

Less Interfund Transfers 12,000 

Net Estimated Revenue For All Funds  7,723,592 

SECTION 2.AD VALOREM TAX LEVY.  There is hereby levied for the Fiscal Year 2024-2025, a tax at the rate of 
fifty and a half cents ($0.505) per one hundred dollars ($100.00) of valuation of property as listed for taxes as 
of January 1, 2024, for the purpose of raising revenue in the General Fund in Section 1 of this ordinance. The 
revenues are based on an estimated total valuation of property for the purposes of taxation of $449,200,00 
and an estimated collection rate of 99% for real and personal property and 99% for motor vehicles. 

SECTION 3.AUTHORIZED TRANSFER OF APPROPRIATIONS.  The Finance Officer or Town Manager is hereby 
authorized to transfer appropriations within a fund as contained herein under the following conditions: 

a. The Finance Officer or Town Manager may transfer amounts between objects of expenditures
within a department without limitation but with a monthly report to the Town Board of
Commissioners.

b. The Finance Officer or Town Manager may transfer amounts between departments of the same
fund and between funds with an official report on such transfers at the next regular meeting of the
Town Board of Commissioners.

c. No transfer shall be made from any contingency appropriated within any fund without prior
approval of the Board of Commissioners.

SECTION 4.  EXECUTING AGREEMENTS.  The Town Manager or his designee is hereby authorized to execute 
the necessary agreements within funds included in the Budget Ordinance for the following purposes: 

a. Purchase of apparatus, supplies, and materials where formal bids are not required by law;

b. Leases of normal and routine business equipment;

c. Construction or repair work where formal bids are not required by law;

d. Consultant, professional, or maintenance service agreements up to an anticipated contract
amount of $25,000;

e. Agreements for acceptance of State and Federal grant funds; and

f. Grant agreements with public and non-profit agencies.

96 96



SECTION 5FEES AND CHARGES FOR SERVICES.  Water and Sewer rates, sanitation fee, cemetery fee, and all 
other fees are hereby levied at the rates established and shown in the attached schedule. 

SECTION 6.DUAL SIGNATURES ON CHECKS.  As provided by North Carolina Statute 159-25 (b), two (2) 
signatures are required on each check or draft that is made on Town funds.  The Mayor, the two appointed 
Commissioners and the Finance Officer are hereby authorized to sign checks. 

SECTION 7.FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS.  All funds except those required by state statute to be segregated shall 
be deposited in the central depository interest bearing account in the First Bank, or with the North Carolina 
Capital Management Trust.   

All grant funds will be deposited in the appropriate accounts in the First Bank. 

For investment purposes, the Finance Officer is authorized to obtain certificates of deposit from one of the 
following banks providing the best yield: 

a. Truist
b. The Fidelity Bank
c. PNC Bank
d. First Bank

SECTION 8.  Daily collections of taxes and other moneys in excess of $250.00 received by the Finance Officer 
shall be deposited daily in the official depositories in accordance with G.S. 159-32.  Notwithstanding this 
provision, a deposit will always be made on the last business day of the month. 

SECTION 9.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 10.  Copies of this Budget Ordinance shall be furnished to the Town Manager and the Finance Officer 
to be kept on file by them for their direction in the disbursement of funds. 

SECTION 11.  This ordinance is to become effective July 1, 2024. 

The foregoing ordinance, having been submitted to a vote, received the following vote, and was duly adopted 

and ordained this 170th day of June 2024. 

____ 
    Jimmy Chalflinch, Mayor 

Attest: 

________________________________ 
Kimberly Gibson, Town Clerk 

Ayes:      _______ 

Nays:      _______ 

Absent/Excused:    _______ 

97 97



MEMORANDUM 

Date: June 17, 2024  

To: Board of Commissioners 

From: Jamie Sandoval, Management Analyst 

Subject: Urban Archery Pilot Program Survey. 

SUMMARY OF REQUEST 

Town staff were tasked with putting out a survey to gather public opinion on a pilot program regarding 
Urban Archery. The survey responses were gathered from Thursday, May 30th to Wednesday, June 12, 
2024. There was a total of 36 responses to the survey. Although the survey was targeted at residents in 
the Town of Carthage, there were some comments made that indicated some who submitted their 
responses resided within the County. Staff could not verify if all those that submitted the survey resided 
in the Town.  The survey questions were as followed: 

Question 1. Do you support the implementation of a pilot program for urban archery in the Town 
of Carthage? 

Please explain why or why not? 

Question 2. Do you have any recommendations the Board of Commissioners should consider for 
the urban archery pilot program? 

Question 3. Other questions, comments, or concerns? 

Survey Results 

Respondents that ARE in support of the Urban Archery Pilot Program: 

Question 1. 19 respondents were in favor of the pilot program. 

The majority stated that the deer are overpopulated. 

Question 2. The majority stated that it should be open to private property. One stated that 3 acres 
are too large and should be reduced to 1 acre. 

Question 3. Some comments included, “With proper control implementation, it will greatly benefit 
the town and county” and “I appreciate that there are options being entertained to 
provide hunting opportunities”. 

98 98



Respondents that DO NOT support the Urban Archery Pilot Program: 

Question 1. 17 respondents were not in favor of the pilot program. 

Many stated that it was dangerous for children and citizens and do not wish to harm 
the deer. 

Question 2. Most stated that the idea needs to be tabled and there needs to be focused in 
another direction for the Town. 

Question 3. Most did not answer; some answers included “I’m concerned that this was even 
proposed” and “I feel that Carthage needs other things more important than deer 
archery”. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S)

OPTION #1: 

I motion to deny the Urban Archery Pilot Program and the consideration for an Urban Archery Ordinance 
as the majority of the survey respondents were opposed to the suggestion. 

OR 

OPTION #2: 

I motion to approve the Urban Archery Pilot Program and the consideration for an Urban Archery 
Ordinance for the following reasons… 

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

99 99



MEMORANDUM 

Date: June 17, 2024 

To: The Board of Commissioners 

From:  Jennifer Hunt, Town Planner 

Subject: Downtown Revitalization Plan 

I. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION REQUEST:
The Downtown Revitalization Plan was discussed at last month’s joint meeting with the Planning
Board and was postponed until today for a decision. The Planning Board at their meeting on June 6,
2024, recommended approving the all parking option (Option 2) from the packet presented and
Option “A” the Streetscape Option, with brick banding.

The Town of Carthage embarked on a study for the Downtown Carthage community to assess the
true nature of the area and study the access via walking, driving, or biking. The Town of Carthage
also sought to assess the true nature of parking for cars that is available and occupied. Although
there is a perceived lack of parking options available, the data collected over the last 6 months
shows otherwise. The parking downtown has over 350 spaces and is never utilized over 75% even
during peak hours between 10 A.M. and 2 P.M. on Monday through Friday, during court hours.

The Planning Board and Board of Commissioners will use the attached Parking Corridor Study to
make the decision and decide which option for parking around the circle is most sufficient for the
Downtown Revitalization Plan. The three options for parking around the circle where the old
courthouse is located are included in Attachment 1 as well as the three options for Streetscape
Design in Downtown. Attachment 2 is the Parking Corridor Study. Attachment 3 is the Downtown
Revitalization Study.

The three options are no parking around the circle, hybrid parking around the circle or parking
around the circle. The hybrid parking option provides 13 parking spaces, with 3 handicap spaces. The
full parking option provides 23 parking spaces, with 3 handicap spaces as well. The no parking option
provides a pedestrian stage area and many outdoor pavilion areas for people to possibly sit or relax
in the downtown area.

Koontz Jones Design will be present to answer any questions regarding the Downtown Revitalization
Study options that were created using two community input meetings from November 2023 and
March 2024. Both community input meetings were joint meetings with both consultants present to
gather as much information and feedback from the community members as possible.

II. PETITION MOTION

100 100



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MOTION (1st Required Motion) 

I move to: 

OPTION 1 
Approve the no parking option for the Downtown Revitalization Plan as written and presented. 

or 

OPTION 2 
Approve the hybrid parking option for the Downtown Revitalization Plan as written and presented. 

OPTION 3 
Approve the parking option for the Downtown Revitalization Plan as written and presented. 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MOTION (2nd Required Motion) 

I move to: 

OPTION 1 
Recommend approving Option A Streetscape for the Downtown Revitalization Plan as written and 
presented. 

or 

OPTION 2 
Recommend approving Option B Streetscape for the Downtown Revitalization Plan as written and 
presented. 

OPTION 3 
Recommend approving Option C Streetscape for the Downtown Revitalization Plan as written and 
presented. 

101 101


	MINUTES_BOC SPECIAL Meeting_5-15-24
	REPORT_Manager's Report
	REPORT_Code Enforcement Report
	May and June 2024 Code Enforcement Report
	Open Cases/Cases in Progress:


	REPORT_CASH POSITION  AS OF 5-31-2024
	Sheet1

	REPORT_FD Incident Statistics_May 2024
	REPORT_PD citations
	REPORT_PD incidents
	REPORT_PD warrants
	REPORT_PW May 2024
	RIPPLE_MEMO_S-02-24
	RIPPLE_Attachment 1_FULL Phasing Plan Ripple Fiber
	EVENTS_Memo_Special Events Committee
	EVENTS_Ordinance_Special Events Committee Ordinance
	PB_Memo_ ETJ Applications_6_17_2024
	BUDGET_Memo_Public Hearing
	SDF Supporting Analysis March 2024 Revision
	SDF_DRAFT_ FY 24-25 Fee & Rate Schedule
	BUDGET_Presentation FY24-25
	BUDGET_Message FY24-25
	BUDGET_Ordinance_FY 24-25 Budget
	A.  GENERAL FUND REVENUES
	Administrative Charge-Fire District        12,000
	B.  GENERAL FUND DEPARTMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS
	C.  WATER AND SEWER FUND REVENUES

	Sewer Fund Balance Appropriation 159,500
	Total Sewer Revenues 1,129,300
	D.  WATER AND SEWER FUND EXPENDITURES
	E.  POWELL BILL FUND REVENUES
	F.  POWELL BILL FUND APPROPRIATIONS
	G.  CEMETERY FUND REVENUES

	Total Cemetery Fund Revenues 1,500
	H.  CEMETERY FUND APPROPRIATIONS
	Total Estimated Revenues from All Funds 7,735,592


	ARCHERY_MEMO_Urban Archery Pilot Program Survey
	DT PLAN_Memo
	DT PLAN_Attachment 2_Parking and Mobility Study_Final Report_May 2024_Page View
	DT PLAN_Attachment 1_ Option for Parking and Streetscape Plans
	DT PLAN_Attachment 3_Downtown Revitalization Concept Plans Presentation



